NO. 70702-7-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

APR 29 2014

King County Prosecutor

Appellate Unit

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

V.

MALCOLM FRASER,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

The Honorable Jay White, Judge The Honorable Beth Andrus, Judge The Honorable Lori Smith, Judge

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JENNIFER WINKLER Attorney for Appellant

NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC 1908 East Madison Street Seattle, WA 98122 (206) 623-2373

A. INTRODUCTION

Appellant Malcolm Fraser, the assistant pastor of a small non-denominational church, was charged with abusing M.C., an 11-year-old church member, many years earlier while Fraser and his wife were guests in M.C.'s family home. A jury convicted him as charged.

Fraser's church has been the subject of controversy, and some former members have called it a cult. M.C.'s family left the church shortly after the charging period. But M.C. first made her allegations six years later, only after a disgruntled former church member – and close friend of M.C.'s mother – began an online campaign against the organization, which arose in part out of her acrimony about a business dealing with the church.

At trial, Fraser presented evidence that the investigating detective, himself deeply religious, was biased against the church. Fraser also proved he only lived with M.C.'s family a matter of weeks, rather than up to a year, as M.C. and her family originally claimed. Fraser also presented expert testimony that he suffers from a medical condition that would have made the alleged conduct painful.

But the court refused to review, in camera, M.C.'s counseling records, despite Fraser's showing they were reasonably likely to reveal evidence of her animosity toward the church, which she denied at trial, and to provide other significant impeachment evidence. The court also excluded important bias evidence. The court excluded a judicial finding that the detective committed misconduct by destroying evidence and mishandling potentially exculpatory evidence in the case. The court also excluded evidence tending to show the bias of the complainant's sister, an important prosecution witness. Finally, the court also improperly excluded relevant reputation evidence, which unfairly undermined the defense case.

B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- The court erred by failing to conduct an in camera review of records likely to lead to evidence of the complainant's bias as well as impeachment evidence.
- The court erred in excluding a prior judicial finding that the lead detective committed misconduct, undermining the appellant's ability to effectively confront a key witness.
- The court erred in refusing to permit cross examination of a key prosecution witness regarding her bias.
- 4. The court erred in excluding relevant evidence of the appellant's reputation for sexual morality in his community.
 - 5. Cumulative error denied appellant a fair trial.

Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

- 1. Did the court err when it denied the appellant's request to conduct an in camera review of the complainant's counseling records, where the appellant demonstrated the records were reasonably likely to contain evidence of the complainant's bias, as well as important impeachment evidence?
- 2. Did the court violate the appellant's right to effective crossexamination by excluding bias evidence, namely, a judicial finding that the lead detective had committed misconduct in his investigation of the appellant?
- 3. Did the court err in refusing to permit cross-examination of a key prosecution witness regarding her failure to appear for two defense interviews, which tended to show her bias toward the appellant?
- 4. Did the court err in excluding relevant evidence as to the appellant's reputation for sexual morality in the community?
 - 5. Did cumulative error deny the appellant a fair trial?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE¹

Charges, verdicts, and sentence

The State charged Fraser with two counts of first degree child molestation and two counts of first degree child rape as to complainant M.C. The acts were alleged to have occurred between January 1, 2005 and May 31, 2006, when M.C. was 10 or 11 years old. CP 1-6, 187-89. M.C. was 17 when she first made the allegations and 18 at the time of trial. 7RP 955; 11RP 94.

A jury convicted Fraser as charged. The court sentenced him to concurrent low-end minimum sentences on each count. CP 260-63, 294-304; RCW 9.94A.507(3) (providing for maximum and minimum terms for such offenses and setting maximum as statutory maximum for offense). Fraser timely appeals. CP 281-93.

2. Trial testimony – State's witnesses

Jessica G. is the mother of complainant M.C. 9RP 44. Jessica and her husband Greg joined the Sound Doctrine Church (Sound) in 2000 after

This brief refers to the verbatim reports as follows: 1RP - 8/24/12, 12/7/12 and 1/11/13; 2RP - 1/18/13 and 4/3/13; 3RP - 4/9/13 and 4/17/13; 4RP - 4/18/13; 5RP - 4/22/13; 6RP - 4/23/13; 7RP - 4/24/13; 8RP - 4/25/13 and 7/23/13 (motion to arrest judgment); 9RP - 5/6/13; 10RP - 5/7/13; 11RP - 5/8/13; 12RP - 5/9/13; 13RP - 5/14/13; 14RP - 5/15/13; 15RP - 5/16/13; 16RP - 5/20/13; 17RP - 5/21/13; 18RP - 5/22/13; 19RP - 5/23/13, 5/28/13 and 5/29/13; and 20RP - 7/26/13 (sentencing).

reading about the church online. 9RP 46, 56. At that time, Greg estimated the church had 20-25 members. 4RP 561. Jessica was attracted to the church based on the teachings of the founder, Timothy Williams. 9RP 48. Jessica found in the congregants of Sound a common seriousness of purpose and desire to be closer to God. 9RP 47, 54-55.

Jessica's family began renting a home on Franklin Street in Enumclaw to be closer to the church community. 9RP 50. Eventually, Jessica and Greg's relationships with extended family became strained due to financial and religious differences. 4RP 581-82; 9RP 51-52; 10RP 55-57. Over the six years the family were members of Sound, the family mostly associated with other church members. 9PR 69. The family hosted a number of church-affiliated short-term and long-term guests, including Fraser and his wife, who was deaf. 9RP 75, 96.

Fraser, along with Timothy Williams, Williams's wife Carla, and Williams's sons Josiah and Joshua, formed the church leadership. 9RP 71-72. Fraser was assistant pastor. 15RP 86. Jessica testified it was common for church leadership and others within the church to "rebuke" other congregants for behavior inconsistent with Biblical teachings. 9RP 78, 128-29. As such, Fraser held a position of authority in Jessica's home and was considered the head of household during Greg's frequent absences. 9RP 78, 127, 132. Fraser was present when church leadership

advised Jessica to put M.C. and her younger sisters through a "manners boot camp" to improve their obedience and politeness. 9RP 76, 78, 89, 141-42.

At trial, Jessica estimated the Frasers stayed in her family's guestroom for six months. 9RP 79, 146. In a previous statement, however, Jessica said the Frasers stayed in the home from September 2005 to May of 2006. 9RP 151-52. In yet another interview, she said the Frasers were in the home about a year. 9RP 185-87.

In May of 2006, Jessica and her family moved to a home on Charwila Lane in Enumclaw. 9RP 80-81. The Frasers remained in the Franklin Street home, and recently divorced church member Abigail Davidson and her two children, Anna and Ezekiel Dean, moved in with the Frasers. 12RP 148; 13RP 18-19.

Jessica and Greg left the church in August of 2006 after Jessica learned church leadership had criticized her parenting of M.C. 10RP 53. Years later, Jessica still had negative feelings toward Sound. 9RP 206-08.

Five years after the family left Sound, Jessica began associating with a disgruntled former congregant, Athena Dean. 9RP 215. Jessica's sister was married to Athena's stepson, himself a lapsed Sound member. 10RP 113. Athena, the former owner of Sound's publishing business, was

angry with Sound leadership in part because she believed she was wronged in the sale of the business to the church. 15RP 75-77, 95-96, 106-08; 17RP 131-33; 18RP 33. Athena "blogged" frequently about her disgruntlement with the church. 15RP 75-76.

Athena presided over two gatherings of former Sound members in November of 2011. 10RP 27-28. According to Jessica, M.C. stayed in her room during one of the meetings and was not present for the other. 10RP 64. Around that time, Jessica bragged on Facebook that she had yelled "asshole" at Fraser out her car window. 9RP 218; 10RP 25.

Jessica denied Athena was present during M.C.'s two March 2012 interviews at the Enumclaw police department after M.C.'s allegations came to light. 10RP 32-33, 65. M.C., on the other hand, admitted Athena was at the police station both times and even gave her a gift, although M.C. resented Athena's presence. 13RP 79-81, 114.

Jessica home-schooled M.C., M.C.'s two younger half-sisters, as well other children affiliated with the church. 11RP 105. M.C. had few outside friends, but she regularly visited her father and her other half-sisters B.C. and K.C. in Tacoma. 11RP 103, 110.

Like her mother, M.C. recalled the Frasers were in her home six or seven months starting in October 2005 and ending in April 2006. 11RP 124; 13RP 43-45. M.C. was excited for the Frasers to move in because

the family looked up to Fraser as a church leader. But Fraser's disciplinary role also made him intimidating. 11RP 102. M.C. recalled the "manners boot camp" as a stressful time because she was frequently punished for small transgressions. 11RP 127-28, 133.

M.C. and her sisters slept in a large, open attic room when M.C. was younger, but that changed at some point before the Frasers moved into the Franklin house. 11RP 136, 138-39. Stepfather Greg "finished" an area at the rear of the attic and installed a door with a lock for M.C. 11RP 136-37. The room was so small that an average-sized adult could barely fit under the apex of the sharply sloped ceiling. 11RP 137; 12RP 102-03; 16RP 37-38. M.C.'s sisters still slept in the open area at the top of the stairs. 11RP 139-40; 12RP 107. The Frasers slept in the guestroom, which was near the attic stairs. 11RP 135.

M.C. testified Fraser started abusing her in October of 2005. 12RP 71-74; 13RP 50. One night, Fraser woke M.C. He put his hand over her mouth and rubbed the skin under her shirt and bra. He also rubbed the skin of her crotch. 11RP 150.

M.C. kicked Fraser but was unable to scream because he covered her mouth. 11RP 152. Fraser told M.C. to be quiet and threatened to hurt M.C. or her mom if she told anyone. 11RP 151. He also warned M.C. she would be thrown out of the church and go to hell if she told. 11RP 154-

After Fraser left, M.C. hid under her covers and cried. 11RP 154.
 The following day, however, M.C. told no one. 11RP 157.

Fraser returned a few days later and engaged in similar activity.

M.C. kicked, screamed, and tried to escape, but Fraser held her down and repeated the warnings. 11RP 159-61.

After that, Fraser returned to M.C.'s room a few times a week for several months. 12RP 75-76. At some point, Fraser started taking M.C.'s hand and forcing her to vigorously masturbate his penis. 11RP 162-63; 12RP 4-5, 121-22. Another time, he turned her over and put his finger into her anus. 12RP 8, 17. M.C.'s underwear was bloody the next day, but she hid it in the garbage. 12RP 8, 19, 146. That occurred more than once but was not frequent. 12RP 11. Fraser also attempted to force M.C.'s mouth open and to put his penis inside it. He only succeeded in doing so on a few occasions. 12RP 15, 18, 139. M.C. testified Fraser's penis was "normal" and circumcised. 13RP 118-19.

Generally, Fraser held his hand over M.C.'s mouth to keep her from screaming. 12RP 112-13. Other times, she was able to scream "no" or "stop." 12RP 116-17. M.C. recalled vigorously kicking and flailing during the incidents. 12RP 114, 115, 120, 131. She also recalled attempting to punch Fraser in the penis. 12RP 123. She believed she could have left bruises or scratch marks on Fraser's groin. 12RP 14-45.

M.C. acknowledged Fraser had to walk up creaky stairs and pass her sleeping sisters to get to M.C.'s room. 12RP 105-07. Sometimes M.C. checked on her sisters after Fraser left, but she never went downstairs or locked her door. 12RP 119; 13RP 121. Fraser did not act differently toward M.C. during the day and M.C. attempted to avoid Fraser. 11RP 158.

M.C. testified one incident occurred after she and other homeschooled children went on a field trip to a bookstore in Portland. 12RP 89-91. According to other church members, however, the single Portland trip occurred in 2004 or 2005, before the Frasers lived with M.C. 16RP 140-41; 18RP 118

The abuse stopped a few weeks before M.C.'s family moved out of the Franklin Street house. 12RP 74. M.C. was ashamed and did not tell anyone even after her family left the church. 12RP 21-22. At first, M.C. feared that Fraser would harm her family. Later, she wanted to forget about the abuse. 12RP 39-41.

M.C. denied harboring animosity toward Sound members. She had had mixed feelings about leaving the church. 12RP 26-27; 13RP 60. She also denied her family spoke in a disrespectful manner toward church leadership immediately after the family left the church. 13RP 22-24. But M.C.'s mother Jessica became more vocal about Sound after Athena Dean

left the church. 13RP 86. M.C. knew of the brewing animosity toward Sound among former members but denied participating in the meetings. 13RP 68-69.

At some point, M.C. told her younger half-sister K.C., who lived in Tacoma, that she had been abused. 12RP 43-45. The conversation occurred at M.C.'s home on Charwila when K.C. was visiting. The conversation may have occurred a few years after the family left Sound, or about a year before M.C. made the allegations to police. 12RP 43-44; 13RP 39-40. M.C. also told her stepsister J.G. in early 2012 after J.G., Greg's biological daughter, revealed *she* had been abused years earlier by a person unrelated to this case. 12RP 46; 13RP 32.

In March of 2012, M.C. revealed to counselor Kathleen Moore that she had been abused. Shortly thereafter, M.C. told her mother Jessica. 12RP 51; 13RP 25. Jessica took M.C. to the Enumclaw police department, where M.C. met with Detective Grant McCall. M.C. declined to give a detailed statement at the first meeting but returned a few days later and did so. 12RP 51, 53. According to M.C., her first detailed account of abuse was provided to McCall. 13RP 122-23.

Counselor Moore testified she contacted Child Protective Services (CPS) after learning of M.C.'s allegations. 14RP 10-11. Moore claimed privilege as to the details of M.C.'s disclosures. 14RP 14. Moore

acknowledged, however, that according to her report to CPS, M.C. had never told anyone before Moore. 14RP 19, 31; Ex. 146 (exhibit not admitted but excerpt read into evidence).

Sister K.C., who was a year and a half younger than M.C., provided testimony regarding M.C.'s disclosures that was inconsistent with, and more detailed, than M.C.'s version of disclosure. K.C. testified M.C. first disclosed the abuse at the Charwila house when K.C. was between 10 and 13 years old. Another sister on M.C.'s father's side was present. 13RP 137-38. M.C. was so distraught that K.C. had a hard time interpreting what M.C. was trying to tell her. 13RP 137-38. M.C. provided no details at that time. 13RP 153. A second conversation occurred when K.C. was between 12 and 14. Only K.C. was present. 13RP 141. A third conversation, previously undisclosed, occurred about a year later when a new family member, Samantha, was present. 13RP 143-44, 156-57. This occurred two years before trial. 13RP 144. At the time, M.C. disclosed that certain things did not occur during the abuse, but she did not elaborate further. 13RP 145. M.C. again appeared distraught. 13RP 145.

K.C. acknowledged she had not come forward with the foregoing information until two months before trial. 13RP 157-58. Defense counsel attempted to question K.C. about her failure to appear for two scheduled

interviews in 2012. 13RP 158. On the State's objection, the court precluded the inquiry. 13RP 158-161.

Detective McCall received a CPS report on March 14, 2012 and contacted Jessica. 9RP 953-54. He met with M.C. and Jessica the following day. M.C. was tearful and was not prepared to give a formal statement. 9RP 957-58. M.C. returned a few days later and gave a lengthy statement implicating Fraser. 9RP 963-66. McCall had some training interviewing suspects but acknowledged he had little training interviewing witnesses, including sexual abuse complainants. 7RP 962-63, 1000-01. McCall was unfamiliar with a number of recommended interviewing practices. 7RP 1045-60; 9RP 23.

After M.C.'s disclosure, Athena Dean began corresponding with McCall. 7RP 976, 1022. He also received an email from Fraser's mother, Thelma, who lived in Scotland, Fraser's country of origin, and began corresponding with her. 7RP 976. Thelma's emails were critical of Sound's religious teachings. McCall responded in kind. He wrote, for example, that Sound "was completely without the Gospel of our Lord and Savior Jesus," and he referred to the "fruit" of the church as "evil and twisted." 7RP 1008-09, 1011. McCall testified he was simply attempting to "build rapport" with Fraser's mother, although he acknowledged the emails were consistent with his own religious beliefs. 9RP 977, 1005-06,

1010, 1012-13. In his emails, McCall quoted the Bible; he also referred to Sound as a "cult" in an email to Athena Dean. 7RP 1022-24.

On the other hand, McCall told a defense investigator he "never thought of [Sound] in a negative light." 7RP 1007-08. He also acknowledged he *deliberately* did not provide the foregoing emails to the prosecution or defense because he did not consider them to be "of evidentiary value." 7RP 1019, 1027-30, 1038, 1073-77.

McCall did disclose a Facebook post by Athena Dean, warning her followers to not discuss the case during the period between M.C.'s initial police contact and her next scheduled meeting with McCall. 7RP 7073-75; 9RP 11-15. Athena was at the police station during M.C.'s first visit. 7RP 1034; 9RP 16.

The defense was precluded from introducing a finding by Judge Beth Andrus that McCall committed misconduct in his handling of evidence based on his religious bias. CP 166-72. Over defense objection, however, the State presented evidence to rebutting assertions McCall was biased against Sound and Fraser. McCall and Enumclaw businesswoman Arletta Van Hoof testified McCall advised her to continue to do business with Joshua Williams, a Sound pastor, after M.C.'s allegations against Fraser came to light. 8RP 1088-89, 1104-06; 9RP 28-42.

3. Trial testimony – defense witnesses

Contrary to the timeline set forth by the State's witnesses, Doris Thompson, an out-of-town attendee at the church's annual conference, stayed with the G family in December of 2005. Thompson testified the Frasers did not live with the family at the time. 15RP 29-32. Similarly, multiple witnesses testified the Frasers lived at a residence on Carley Place in Enumclaw between November 2005 and March 2006, and therefore M.C. could not have been abused during the timeframe she claimed. 15RP 84; 16RP 116-18; 17RP 59, 67-68, 180-86; 18RP 100-04, 141.

Fraser's wife confirmed they moved in with M.C.'s family on March 31, 2006. They only intended to stay with the family a short time because they were seeking a home to share with Abigail Davidson and her children. 16RP 27, 59-61, 63; 17RP 143-44.

Dr. John Yuille, a forensic psychologist and an expert on memory and interviewing techniques, also testified for the defense. 14RP 38. Dr. Yuille testified McCall's interview of M.C. was deficient in a number of respects. 14RP 45, 75, 87; see 14RP 117-43 (McCall interview of M.C. read into record during Yuille testimony). The prevalence of suggestive, leading questions was concerning. No matter the age of the interviewee, leading questions should be avoided because they may permanently alter

memories, even in ways an interviewee may be unaware of. 14RP 47-48, 59, 88, 98. McCall's questions "suggested" a number of sexual activities occurred, and he never provided M.C. the opportunity to provide a narrative of events. 14RP 85-86, 160. Among other deficiencies, McCall appeared to treat the interview as an opportunity to confirm his beliefs that Fraser was guilty rather than to investigate the facts. 14RP 86.

Philip Welch, a medical doctor, testified Fraser, who is uncircumcised, suffers from a medical condition called "phimosis" that prevents his foreskin from easily retracting. 15RP 159-60, 162-63. Phimosis sufferers often experience pain if the foreskin is stretched beyond its limit. 5RP 163-64. Based on his examination of Fraser, Dr. Welch opined that forceful retraction of Fraser's foreskin would cause him significant pain. 15RP 174-75. As such, vigorous sexual activity, including the behaviors M.C. described, would have caused him pain. 15RP 189-90, 193-94, 213. Fraser's wife testified she had learned to deal with the condition by being careful during sex. 16RP 21-22.

Sound pastor Josiah Williams denied Sound was a cult. 15RP 58. The church did not seek to control families' inner workings. Rather, members look to church leadership for guidance on how to interpret Scripture. 15RP 60. He also acknowledged "rebukes" were part of the church's practices. 15RP 61-63, 89. Church members often "stood up" to

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