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

C. ARGUMENT 

1. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED 
FRASER'S REQUEST FOR IN CAMERA REVIEW 
OF M.C.'S COUNSELING RECORDS. 

Fraser contends that the superior court which presided over 

the initial pretrial hearings in this matter erred when it refused his 

request to review, in camera, records prepared by M.C.'s private 

counselor, Kathleen Moore, relating to M.C.'s disclosures of abuse 

to her. Fraser asserts that he made a sufficient showing of 

materiality to justify judicial intrusion into these protected patient-

therapist records. His claim is without merit. 

The general rule with regard to whether a trial court will 

conduct an in camera review to determine the scope of discovery of 

privileged records is that the court's decision is reviewed for abuse 

of discretion. State v. Diemel, 81 Wn. App. 464, 467,914 P.2d 779 

(1996). A trial court abuses its discretion if its decision is manifestly 

unreasonable or based on untenable grounds or untenable 

reasons. State v. Swan, 114 Wn.2d 613, 658, 790 P.2d 610 

(1990). 

Records prepared by a counselor in connection with her 

treatment of a patient and which contain information acquired from 

that patient are privileged pursuant to RCW 5.60.060(9). Fraser 
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contends that this prohibition notwithstanding, he was entitled to in 

camera review of Ms. Moore's records because they may have 

contained evidence of M.G.'s bias against him or because M.G. 

may have described Fraser's abuse of her differently than she did 

to others, including police. 

However, in order to make an adequate threshold showing 

to justify an in camera inspection and thereby chip away at the 

overwhelming presumption of confidentiality between a patient and 

her counselor, a defendant must make a particularized factual 

showing that information useful to the defense is likely to be found 

in the records. State v. Kalakosky, 121 Wn.2d 525,550,852 P.2d 

1064 (1993). Here, the trial court properly concluded that Fraser 

had failed to make such a demonstration, and that his factual 

showing was far too general to warrant intrusion into a protected 

patient-therapist relationship. 1 RP 34-36. 

The affidavit that Fraser presented in support of his request 

for in camera review is highly generalized, and contains virtually no 

factual assertions that would support the conclusion that Moore's 

records would prove specifically useful to the defense. Rather, 

Fraser merely asserts that (a) he had been charged with sexually 

abusing M.G., (b) there were no witnesses to his alleged abuse of 
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M.C. or corroborating physical evidence, and (c) the alleged victim 

and her family strongly disliked him. CP 313-14. As the Kalakosky 

court noted when rejecting a challenge to a lower court's denial of 

request for in camera review based on a similarly vague affidavit, "If 

we concluded that such a statement was sufficient to constitute a 

threshold showing, then such records would always be subject to in 

camera review." Kalakosky, 121 Wn.2d at 549. 

Indeed, had the legislature intended that its protection of 

patient-therapist communications be forfeited if those 

communications concerned abuse that resulted in criminal charges, 

the legislature certainly could have included that circumstance in its 

list of exceptions to the presumption of confidentiality. See RCW 

5.60.060(a)-(e). The legislature did not. And Washington's courts 

recognize the significance of this privilege, requiring a far greater 

showing of materiality in order to overcome that privilege than 

Fraser presented here. 

Finally, Fraser's reliance on State v. Gregory, 158 Wn.2d 

759, 147 P.3d 1201 (2006), is misplaced. First, Gregory involved a 

request for in camera review of court records - the dependency 

files of the complainant's children - rather than the private records 

of a therapist caring for a patient. Gregory, 158 Wn.2d at 793. 
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That is, the privacy interest under threat in Gregory belonged to the 

complainant's children rather than herself. Second, Gregory's 

defense to the charge of rape was that the complainant was a drug

addicted prostitute with whom he engaged in intercourse in 

exchange for payment, and that their encounter took place while 

the dependency actions were active; Gregory plausibly asserted 

that the dependency records would have contained information 

regarding the complainant's drug activity and other illegal conduct, 

thereby corroborating his theory of the case. & at 793. The state 

supreme court held that Gregory had made sufficiently 

particularized showings as to both his need for specific information 

potentially within the dependency files, and to the special relevance 

of such information to his chosen defense theory. & at 794-95. 

Here, in contrast, Fraser offered what amounts to a 

boilerplate request for intrusion into a private therapist's case file, 

on the ground that he had been criminally charged and that the 

complainant discussed the abuse with her therapist. His contention 

that the pretrial court's denial of his motion substantially deprived 

him of the ability to pursue his defense strategy of attacking M.C.'s 

account as the product of bias and poor police investigation is 

belied by the fact that his cross-examination of the State's 
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witnesses and his lengthy defense case-in-chief abundantly 

pursued both of those points. It is dubious to assert that the trial 

court acted manifestly unreasonably in concluding that Fraser's 

pretrial effort was little more than a proverbial "fishing expedition" 

into highly protected waters, and that it undermined his ability to 

defend himself to the extent that he was denied a fair trial. 

2. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY EXCLUDED A 
PRIOR COURT'S LEGAL FINDINGS FROM 
EVIDENCE. 

Next, Fraser asserts that he was deprived of his right to a 

fair trial because the trial court refused to allow him to introduce into 

evidence certain findings made by a different judge who ruled 

against Fraser in his pretrial motion to dismiss this case pursuant to 

CrR 8.3. This argument should also be rejected. 

Pretrial, Fraser sought to have the case against him 

dismissed on the ground that the investigating detective failed to 

preserve and thereafter produce for the defense team e-mails that 

he had exchanged with Fraser's mother, with M.C.'s mother and 

stepfather, and with Athena Dean. CP 19-37. Fraser asserted that 

these communications could have been exculpatory, and that the 

detective's failure to save them and later turn them over to the 

defense team amounted to a violation of the rule announced in 
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Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83, 83 S. Ct. 1194, 10 L. Ed. 2d. 215 

(1963) . Fraser further contended that the detective's impermissible 

actions and inactions were the product of his bias against Fraser's 

church. CP 35. 

The pretrial court denied Fraser's motion, holding that 

although the detective should have decided against deleting these 

e-mails, he did so not out of malevolence toward Fraser and his 

church, but because he believed - incorrectly, in the court's 

judgment - that the e-mails were irrelevant to his investigation. 

1 RP 142-43; CP 170. The pretrial court concluded that dismissal 

was inappropriate due to Fraser's inability to prove incurable 

prejudice, given that it might be possible to recover the deleted e-

mails either through computer forensics or by contacting the 

recipients of the detective's correspondence. 1 RP 143-44; CP 168, 

171-72.2 

Fraser now contends that the trial court subsequently erred 

by refusing to allow him to introduce somehow the pretrial judge's 

"findings" that the detective had committed Brady violations and 

that the detective's judgment was affected by his animosity toward 

2 The court directed the State to undertake those efforts, and it appears 
that the court's directive was executed. 3RP 416; CP 172. 
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Fraser's church. His claim is meritless. The trial court's findings 

were irrelevant to the issues before the jury, and their introduction 

would have amounted to impermissible judicial comments on the 

evidence. 

Relevant evidence is evidence having any tendency to 

"make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the 

determination of the action more probable or less probable than it 

would be without the evidence." ER 401. At the outset, it must be 

noted that the trial court's finding that the detective's antipathy to 

the theology of Fraser's church "may have affected his judgment in 

the investigation" of Fraser, is not really a finding at all. CP 167. It 

merely presents an unanswered question in the form of a sentence. 

This "finding" provides nothing of use to the trier of fact at Fraser's 

trial. It is irrelevant under ER 401. 

In addition, the pretrial court's holding that the detective's 

failure to preserve certain e-mails amounted to a Brady violation is 

also immaterial to the jury's task. This is not to say that the jury 

should have been or was prevented from learning of the detective's 

deletion of some e-mails. The trial court in no way limited Fraser's 

ability to cross-examine the case detective regarding the manner 

and scope of his investigation and his preservation or deletion of e-
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mails. 3RP 422.3 Rather, it is simply irrelevant to the jury's 

decision-making to learn that an earlier judge had concluded that 

the detective's actions failed to comply with a particular rule of 

discovery. The trial court only excluded the presentation of an 

irrelevant yet potentially misunderstood fact, i.e., that an earlier 

court concluded that the detective should not have mistakenly 

assumed that the e-mails he had deleted were of no import. 

Furthermore, even assuming, arguendo, that the pretrial 

court's findings were somehow germane to the issues to be 

decided by the jury at Fraser's trial, they would be relevant only 

insofar as they would touch on the case detective's credibility as a 

fact witness. As such, these findings would constitute judicial 

comments on the evidence, prohibited by Art. IV, section 16, of the 

state constitution. An impermissible comment on the evidence is 

one that conveys to the jury the court's attitude toward the merits of 

the particular case. State v. Lane, 125 Wn.2d 825, 838, 889 P.2d 

929 (1995). Because the jury is the sole judge of the weight of the 

3 Fraser engaged in extensive questioning of Det. McCall regarding his treatment 
of e-mails from various parties. 7RP 1015-34. Nor did the trial court prohibit 
Fraser from cross-examining the case detective regarding his feelings toward 
Fraser's church - a task that defense counsel undertook with relish. 7RP 1005-
15. 
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testimony, a trial court violates Art. IV, sec. 16, when it suggests to 

the jury what weight should be given to certain evidence. & 

Here, Fraser asserts, in essence, that the jury should have 

learned of the pretrial court's findings because they would then 

conclude that the pretrial court found the case detective to be 

incompetent or corrupt in his actions in this case. In other words, 

Fraser believes the jury was entitled to learn not only what the 

detective did in his investigation of M.C.'s complaint, but also a 

judge's opinion of what he did in that investigation. Fraser cites to 

no relevant authority for this suspect proposition, which directly 

contravenes Art. IV, sec. 16. The trial court cannot reasonably be 

said to have abused its discretion in excluding this irrelevant and 

potentially unfairly prejudicial information from this trial. 

3. EVIDENCE OF K.C.'S NON-APPEARANCE AT 
DEFENSE INTERVIEWS WAS IRRELEVANT. 

Fraser also argues that the trial court erred when it sustained 

the State's objection, on the ground of relevance, when defense 

counsel asked M.C.'s minor sister, K.C., whether she had failed to 

appear as scheduled for two pretrial interviews at the office of the 

prosecuting attorney. Before ruling on the State's objection, the 

trial court asked Fraser's attorney for an offer of proof in response, 
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outside the presence of the jury. 13RP 158. Defense counsel 

stated that K.C. did not show up for either of two prearranged 

meetings at the prosecutor's office, though she later sat for a 

telephonic interview. 13RP 159. Fraser's attorney asserted that 

K.C.'s nonappearance at the first two interviews demonstrated a 

lack of cooperation that could cast doubt on her credibility. 13RP 

159-60. In response, the State indicated that, as a minor, K.C. was 

dependent on her father for transportation, and that it was her 

father, and not K.C., who had been "recalcitrant." 13RP 160. The 

State further noted that there had never been any indication that 

K.C. was personally unwilling to participate in this prosecution. 

13RP 160. The trial court, finding no basis to believe that K.C.'s 

nonappearances were of her own volition, sustained the State's 

objection as to relevancy. 13RP 161. 

On appeal, Fraser asserts that the trial court's decision 

prevented him from exploring the extent of K.C.'s bias and 

jeopardized his constitutional right to a fair trial. His claim should 

be denied. 

The trial court is generally the proper court to weigh the 

relevance of evidence, and its decisions in that regard are reviewed 

for a determination of abuse of discretion. State v. Foxhoven, 161 
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Wn.2d 168, 176, 163 P.3d 786 (2007). Here, the trial court was 

presented with a contention that a minor's failure to initially appear 

for two interviews was indicative of "bias." When given the 

opportunity to elaborate, defense counsel made no effort to 

elaborate on the nature of this generalized "bias" and against whom 

or what it was predisposed. Defense counsel did not attempt to 

explain why K.C.'s nonappearance was reflective of such bias, 

particularly when K.C. ultimately sat for an interview, at which she, 

presumably, could have been asked about the earlier no-shows. In 

addition, the only factual narrative before the trial court was the 

deputy prosecutor's explanation that it was K.C.'s father who had 

been responsible for her failure to arrive as scheduled, and that the 

prosecutor had never encountered any reluctance or hesitation on 

K.C.'s part. 

Under these circumstances, the trial court properly exercised 

its discretion in sustaining the State's objection.4 

4 Fraser also asserts that the trial court's decision here is subject to constitutional 
harmless error analysis, despite the well-established doctrine that errors resulting 
from violation of evidentiary rules are subject to nonconstitutional harmless error 
examination. See,~, State v. Thomas, 150 Wn.2d 821, 871, 83 P.3d 970 
(2004). Regardless, it would be a purely academic exercise to undertake any 
harmless error analysis, given that Fraser has entirely failed to articulate the 
probative value of K.C.'s nonappearance at the first two of three scheduled 
interviews. That is, without any explanation from Fraser of what K.C.'s non
appearance could have meant, it is impossible to know how the introduction of 
that fact could have affected the outcome of Fraser's trial. 
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4. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY EXCLUDED 
EVIDENCE OF FRASER'S REPUTATION FOR 
"SEXUAL MORALITY." 

Finally, Fraser argues that the trial court erred when it 

prohibited him from presenting evidence, through the testimony of 

members of his church, of his reputation for sexual morality. The 

trial court, relying on the reasoning in this Court's decision in State 

v. Jackson, 46 Wn. App. 460, 730 P.2d 1361 (1986) , held that the 

value of such a reputation in the community is insufficiently 

probative in a case of child sex abuse to warrant admission . Fraser 

contends that the trial court's decision is wrong on both 

precedential and logical grounds. 

First, Fraser asserts that this Court's holding in Jackson was 

abrogated by the state supreme court's decision in State v. 

Thomas, 110 Wn.2d 859, 757 P.2d 512 (1988). Fraser's 

understanding of Thomas is overbroad. The Thomas court was 

presented only with the question of whether the trial court 

improperly refused to provide an instruction sought by the 

defendant when he had already been permitted to present evidence 

during his case-in-chief of his reputation for sexual morality. See 

Thomas, 110 Wn.2d at 860. The supreme court was not asked to 

determine whether such reputation evidence should have been 
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deemed admissible in the first place, and did not reach that 

question. Thomas does not nullify the holding in Jackson, and is 

thus largely irrelevant to the matter at issue here. 

As a matter of common sense, the reasoning underlying the 

Jackson decision is powerful. As this Court observed, a person's 

actual sexual activity is seldom common knowledge among the 

members of his peer group. Jackson, 46 Wn. App. at 365. Thus, 

one's reputation for morality in this regard may have no correlation 

with his real behavior. kL (noting that "[s]imply put, one's reputation 

for moral decency is not pertinent to whether one has committed 

indecent liberties or incest.") . It takes only passing familiarity with

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